GETTING STARTED IN

# CURRENCY TRADING

INCLUDES COMPANION WEB SITE





**MICHAEL DUANE ARCHER** 

## **Getting Started in**

# **CURRENCY TRADING**

THIRD EDITION

Winning in Today's FOREX Market

# **Michael Duane Archer**



John Wiley & Sons, Inc.

Copyright © 2010 by Michael Duane Archer. All rights reserved.

Published by John Wiley & Sons, Inc., Hoboken, New Jersey.

Published simultaneously in Canada.

No part of this publication may be reproduced, stored in a retrieval system, or transmitted in any form or by any means, electronic, mechanical, photocopying, recording, scanning, or otherwise, except as permitted under Section 107 or 108 of the 1976 United States Copyright Act, without either the prior written permission of the Publisher, or authorization through payment of the appropriate per-copy fee to the Copyright Clearance Center, Inc., 222 Rosewood Drive, Danvers, MA 01923, (978) 750-8400, fax (978) 646-8600, or on the web at www.copyright.com. Requests to the Publisher for permission should be addressed to the Permissions Department, John Wiley & Sons, Inc., 111 River Street, Hoboken, NJ 07030, (201) 748-6011, fax (201) 748-6008, or online at http://www.wiley.com/go/permissions.

Limit of Liability/Disclaimer of Warranty: While the publisher and author have used their best efforts in preparing this book, they make no representations or warranties with respect to the accuracy or completeness of the contents of this book and specifically disclaim any implied warranties of merchantability or fitness for a particular purpose. No warranty may be created or extended by sales representatives or written sales materials. The advice and strategies contained herein may not be suitable for your situation. You should consult with a professional where appropriate. Neither the publisher nor author shall be liable for any loss of profit or any other commercial damages, including but not limited to special, incidental, consequential, or other damages.

For general information on our other products and services or for technical support, please contact our Customer Care Department within the United States at (800) 762-2974, outside the United States at (317) 572-3993 or fax (317) 572-4002.

Wiley also publishes its books in a variety of electronic formats. Some content that appears in print may not be available in electronic books. For more information about Wiley products, visit our web site at www.wiley.com.

### Library of Congress Cataloging-in-Publication Data:

Archer, Michael D. (Michael Duane)

Getting started in currency trading : winning in today's Forex market / Michael Duane Archer. – 3rd ed.

menaer Buane mener. Sid ed.

p. cm. - (Getting started in series)

Includes index.

ISBN 978-0-470-60212-6 (pbk.)

1. Foreign exchange market. 2. Foreign exchange futures. I. Title.

HG3851.A739 2010

332.4'5-dc22

2009043706

Printed in the United States of America

10 9 8 7 6 5 4 3 2 1

# To my friend, Frank Semone

### Contents —

Introduction

Introduction	χv
About This Book	xv
How This Book Is Organized	xv
Companion Web Site	xvii
Disclaimer	xvii
PART 1	
THE FOREIGN EXCHANGE MARKETS	
Chapter 1	
The FOREX Landscape	3
Introduction—What Is FOREX?	3
What Is a Spot Market?	3
Which Currencies Are Traded?	4
Who Trades on the Foreign Exchange?	4
How Are Currency Prices Determined?	5
Why Trade Foreign Currencies?	6
What Tools Do I Need to Trade Currencies?	8
What Does It Cost to Trade Currencies?	9
FOREX versus Stocks	9
FOREX versus Futures	10
Summary	11
Chapter 2	
A Brief History of Currency Trading	13
Introduction	13
Ancient Times	13
The Gold Standard, 1816–1933	14
The Fed	14
Securities and Exchange Commission, 1933–1934	16

VĪ	CONT	ENTS

	2011-1-10	
	The Bretton Woods System, 1944–1973	16
	The End of Bretton Woods and the Advent of	
	Floating Exchange Rates	17
	International Monetary Market	17
	Into the Millennium	18
	Arrival of the Euro	18
	The CFTC and the NFA	19
	Summary	20
Chap	ter 3	
-	Two Ways to Trade FOREX	21
	Introduction—Futures Contracts	21
	Currency Futures	22
	Contract Specifications	22
	Currencies Trading Volume	23
	U.S. Dollar Index	23
	Volume and Open Interest	24
	Where to Trade	25
	FOREX Futures	25
	Summary	25
	PART 2	
	GETTING STARTED	
Chap	ter 4	
	Regulation: Past, Present, and Future	29
	Regulation in the FOREX Market	29
	Regulation Past	30
	Regulation Present	32
	Regulation Future	36
	Summary	36
Chap	ter 5	
	The FOREX Lexicon	37
	Currency Pairs	37
	Major and Minor Currencies	37
	Cross Currency	38
	Exotic Currency	38
	Base Currency	38

Contents	vii
Queto Currency	20
Quote Currency Pips	38 38
Ticks	39
Margin	40
Leverage	40
Bid Price	41
Ask Price	41
Bid-Ask Spread	41
Quote Convention	42
Market Maker and ECN	42
Transaction Cost	42
Rollover	43
Summary	43
Chapter 6	
Trading Tables	45
Pips	46
Profit and Loss	47
Margin	47
Leverage	50
The Bid-Ask Spread	50
Profit Threshold	51
For Futures Traders	54
Summary	55
Chapter 7	
A Guide to FOREX Brokers	57
Broker-Dealer Due Diligence	57
Demo Accounts	59
Market Maker or ECN?	59
FCM or IB?	60
Platform Capabilities	61
Trading Tools	61
The Trader's Desktop	63
News	63
Platform Stability and Backbone	64
Historical Data	65
Data Feed	65
Orders	66
Margin Requirements	66

viii	CONTENTS

Order Backup	67
Account Minimums	67
Pairs, Crosses, and Exotics	68
Deposits and Withdrawals	69
Transaction Costs	69
Trading Hours	70
Customer Service	71
Documentation	72
Requoting	72
Stop Harvesting	73
Ballooning Spreads	73
Financials	73
Rollovers and Interest	74
FOREX Broker-Dealers	74
Popular Broker-Dealers	76
The Big Three	79
For the Professional	80
Fraud, Scams, and Off-Exchange	81
Broker-Dealer Due Diligence Form	81
Summary	83
Chapter 8	
Opening a FOREX Account	85
Account Types	86
Opening the Account: Steps	86
Summary	89
Chapter 9	
Making the Trade	91
Orders	91
Market Orders	92
Limit Orders	93
Stop Orders	93
Combination Orders	95
Specialty Orders	95
Order Placement	95
Order Execution	96
Order Confirmation	96
Open Orders	97
Summary	98

Contents ix

### PART 3

### THE TOOLS OF THE TRADE

### **Chapter 10**

	<del>-</del>	
	Fundamental Analysis	101
	Supply and Demand	101
	Interest Rates	102
	Balance of Trade	103
	Purchasing Power Parity	104
	Gross Domestic Product	106
	Intervention	106
	Other Economic Indicators	106
	Forecasting	108
	Summary	113
Cha	pter 11	
	Technical Analysis	115
	Overview	115
	Bar Charts	116
	Trendlines	118
	Support and Resistance	119
	Recognizing Chart Patterns	119
	Reversal Patterns	120
	Continuation Patterns	121
	Candlestick Charts	123
	Point and Figure Charts	125
	Charting Caveat—Prediction versus Description	127
	Indicators and Oscillators	128
	Relative Strength Indicator	128
	Momentum Analysis	130
	Moving Averages	130
	Bollinger Bands	133
	Indicator Caveat—Curve-Fit Data	134
	Wave and Swing Analysis	135
	Cycle Analysis	136
	Trading Systems	136
	The Technician's Creed	137
	Summary	138

X CONTENTS

Chapter	1	2
---------	---	---

A T		4.44
AII	rader's Toolbox	141
	General Principles	141
	A KIS Toolbox	143
	A Chart Interpretation Technique	143
	GSCS Rules	144
	The Nofri Congestion Phase Method	149
	Pugh Swing Chart Formations	149
	A Moving Average and Oscillator Battery	151
	Contrary Opinion	153
	Volume and Open Interest	153
	Heuristics	154
	Summary	154
Chapter	13	
The	FOREX Marketplace	157
	Organizing Your Bookmarks	158
	Portals and Forums	158
	Charting and Technical Services	161
	FOREX Education	163
	News and Calendars	165
	Live Data and APIs	165
	Historical Data	167
	System Development Tools	167
	FOREX Managed Accounts	170
	Peter Panholzer	173
	Advisory Services	175
	Online Reference Guides	177
	Spread and Binary Betting	177
	Periodicals—In Print and Online	177
	Books	178
	Summary	178
Chapter	14	
	 ail FX Platforms	179
	Professional FX Platforms	180
	Trading Platform Features	180
	Summary	189
	•	

Contents	Xi
----------	----

### PART 4

### THE COMPLETE FOREX TRADER

### Chapter 15

The Plan	n! The Plan!	193
Par	ts of the Plan	194
Pla	n Materials	194
Mis	ssion-Critical Information Sheet	195
Bio	feedback Form	195
The	e Snowflake Method	195
Tra	de Heuristic Worksheet	195
30	Trade Campaign Worksheet	202
Coi	ntinuation Charts	203
Sna	aglt	204
Per	formance Diagnostics	205
Red	cord Keeping	206
Wh	en Things Go Wrong	207
Sur	mmary	209
Chapter 16		
Money	Management Simplified	211
Bre	aking Even—The Belgian Dentist	211
Exp	pectations	212
Tra	der Profiles	212
Par	ameters for Trader Profiles	215
The	e Trade Campaign Method (CTM)	216
Cal	culating CTM Profit and Loss	217
Pro	tecting Profits	218
Sto	p-Loss Orders—Physical or Mental?	218
Sel	ecting Currency Pairs to Trade	219
Sur	mmary	220
Chapter 17		
Psychol	ogy of Trading	221
The	e Trading Pyramid	222
Fea	r and Greed, Greed and Fear	222
Pro	filing Performance	223
The	Attitude Heuristic	224

XII	CONTENTS	
	Characteristics of Successful Traders	225
	Summary	226
Chapte	r 18	
In	 pproving Your Trading Skills	227
	Techniques	227
	Skills	238
	Trading the News	240
	Summary	244
	PART 5	
	EXTRA FOR EXPERTS	
Chapte	r 19	
0	 ptions and Exotics	247
	Options	248
	An Options Primer	248
	Basic Options Terms	248
	The Pros and Cons of Options	250
	The Four Basic Options Strategies	251
	Purchasing and Writing Options	251
	Advanced Options Strategies	251
	The Greeks	252
	The Retail FOREX Options Landscape	252
	Options for Trading	253
	Options for Money Management	254
	Exotics	256
	Trading Exotics	257
	Summary	258
Chapte	r 20	
C	omputers and FOREX	261
	Technical Analysis	261
	Expert Advisors	262
	Automated Trading and BOTS	262
	High-Frequency and Ultra-High-Frequency Trading	263
	Into the Future of FOREX	264
	The Trend Machine	265

Contents	xiii
Arbitrage	266
Pros and Cons of Arbitrage	271
Summary	272
Appendix A	273
How the FOREX Game Is Played	273
Market Makers and ECNs	273
A Peek under the Hood	273
Appendix B	277
List of World Currencies and Symbols	277
Appendix C	283
Euro Currency Unit	283
Appendix D	287
Time Zones and Global FX Trading Hours	287
Appendix E	289
Central Banks and Regulatory Agencies	289
Appendix F	293
Resources	293
Periodicals	293
Books	293
Web Sites	295
Online FOREX Tour	296
Appendix G	297
FX Calculation Scenarios	297
Calculating Profit and Loss	297
Calculating Units Available	303
Calculating Margin Requirements	305
Calculating Transaction Cost	306
Calculating Account Summary Balance	308
Glossary	311
Index	325

### **Introduction**

### **About This Book**

This book is intended to introduce the novice investor to the exciting, complex, and potentially profitable realm of trading world currencies on the foreign exchange markets (FOREX). It also serves as a reference guide for stock and futures traders who wish to explore new trading opportunities. My primary focus is on the rapidly expanding and evolving online trading marketplace for spot currencies, generally referred to as *retail FOREX*.

From the beginning I must emphasize that currency trading may not be to everyone's disposition. The neophyte investor must be keenly aware of all the risks involved and should never trade on funds he or she deems necessary for survival. Currency trading is a form of speculation—attempting to profit by absorbing a risk that already exists. This differs from gambling in which one creates a risk in order to take it. Savings and investment should be covered before considering speculation.

If you have some experience with leveraged markets such as futures or options, you owe yourself a look at FOREX. Those who have never traded will find it the most laissez-faire of all speculative adventures.

### **How This Book Is Organized**

There are six main parts to this book:

1. Part 1—The Foreign Exchange Markets

The FOREX Landscape, A Brief History of Currency Trading, Two Ways to Trade FOREX.

I open the book with a brief overview of the FOREX markets, an event-by-event—based historical overview of currency trading, and the two primary methods for participating in the markets as a retail trader. I hope to dispel any myths the reader has about FOREX.

### 2. Part 2—Getting Started

Regulation: Past, Present, and Future, The FOREX Lexicon, Trading Tables, A Guide to FOREX Brokers, Opening a FOREX Account, and Making the Trade.

Regulation has been slow to come to retail FOREX, but it is making up for lost time.

Every lucrative industry has its own gamut of highly specialized terms or jargon, and currency trading is no exception. You must thoroughly comprehend this jargon before attempting to initiate any trades. With a little familiarization, the language of currency trading will become second nature.

I assist the new trader in selecting a reputable online currency dealer and explain the steps involved in opening a trading account. The actual step-by-step processes of initiating and liquidating a trade are examined in detail with a complete explanation of each order type.

This section must be understood before the reader proceeds to the later sections.

### **3.** Part 3—The Tools of the Trade

Fundamental Analysis, Technical Analysis, A Trader's Toolbox, The FOREX Marketplace, and Retail FX Platforms.

Historically, there have been two major schools of thought in analyzing markets whether they are stocks, commodity futures, or currencies: fundamental analysis and technical analysis. I explore the advantages and disadvantages of both schools in the chapters in this section. I offer ideas on selecting from these trading tools to assemble a basic, personal trading approach that you can easily build upon with experience. A full chapter reviews the wealth of FOREX products and services now available from third-party vendors. Detailed study of several popular online trading platforms completes the section.

### 4. Part 4—The Complete FOREX Trader

The Plan, The Plan!, Money Management Simplified, Psychology of Trading, Improving Your Trading Skills.

The prospective trader is given the outline of a trading plan. I place much emphasis on money management, the art and science of avoiding losses; and I offer a technique the new trader can use easily and effectively.

I expose the trader to the psychology of trading and the stresses that may accompany same. I place much emphasis on money management

and psychology—two key topics vital to success but often neglected in the search for the holy grail of trading methods. Improving Your Trading Skills proffers a series of techniques and skills from which you can pick and choose to flesh out your own trading program.

### 5. Part 5—Extra for Experts

Options and Exotics, Computers and FOREX.

A single chapter covers options and exotics, two areas of FOREX trading that have blossomed recently. Computer trading is big business in all the organized markets. A final chapter briefly discusses the use of computers to assist in and automatically execute trading decisions. It is important for even the small retail trader to understand how the "big guns" trade FOREX and to understand the impact of computers on the markets, directly and indirectly.

### 6. Appendixes

The appendixes are a ready reference of FOREX-specific information, much of which the trader finds useful to have at hand while learning and trading. I point you to Appendix A, How the FOREX Game Is Played. The web sites in Appendix F are meant to offer a self-guided tour of the world of currency trading.

The author's attempt has been to make *Getting Started in Currency Trading* an all-in-one introduction as well as a handy computer-side reference guide. Alas, only you, gentle reader, may judge the level of my success.

### **Companion Web Site**

This edition of *Getting Started in Currency Trading* offers a *Getting Started* companion area on the author's web site, www.goodmanworks.com.

You can find all of the tables in this book in downloadable format. You can customize them to your own needs and either print or work with them in MS Word or MS EXCEL.

A What's New section keeps readers up-to-date on the ever-changing retail FOREX landscape and the Getting Started Blog offers additional learning ideas from the author.

### **Disclaimer**

Neither the publisher nor the author is liable for any financial losses incurred while trading currencies. FOREX is the ultimate caveat emptor marketplace.

# Part

# The Foreign Exchange Markets

# The FOREX Landscape

### Introduction—What Is FOREX?

Foreign exchange is the simultaneous buying of one currency and selling of another. Currencies are traded through a broker or dealer and are executed in currency pairs; for example, the Euro Dollar and the U.S. Dollar (EUR/USD) or the British Pound and the Japanese Yen (GBP/JPY).

The FOReign EXchange Market (FOREX) is the largest financial market in the world, with a volume of more than \$2 trillion daily. This is more than three times the total amount of the stocks and futures markets combined.

Unlike other financial markets, the FOREX spot market has neither a physical location nor a central exchange. It operates through an electronic network of banks, corporations, and individuals trading one currency for another. The lack of a physical exchange enables the FOREX market to operate on a 24-hour basis, spanning from one time zone to another across the major financial centers. This fact—that there is no centralized exchange—is important to keep in mind as it permeates all aspects of the FOREX experience.

### What Is a Spot Market?

A spot market is any market that deals in the current price of a financial instrument. Futures markets, such as the Chicago Board of Trade, offer commodity contracts whose delivery date may span several months into the future. Settlement of FOREX spot transactions usually occurs within two business

TABLE 1.1	<b>Major FOREX Curren</b>	ıcies
Symbol	Country	Currency
USD	United States	Dollar
EUR	Euro members	Euro
JPY	Japan	Yen
GBP	Great Britain	Pound
CHF	Switzerland	Franc
CAD	Canada	Dollar
AUD	Australia	Dollar

days. There are also *futures* and *forwards* in FOREX, but the overwhelming majority of traders use the spot market. I discuss the opportunities to trade FOREX futures on the International Monetary Market.

### **Which Currencies Are Traded?**

Any currency backed by an existing nation can be traded at the larger brokers. The trading volume of the major currencies (along with their symbols) is given in descending order: the U.S. Dollar (USD), the Euro Dollar (EUR), the Japanese Yen (JPY), the British Pound Sterling (GBP), the Swiss Franc (CHF), the Canadian Dollar (CAD), and the Australian Dollar (AUD). See Table 1.1. All other currencies are referred to as *minors* and those from smaller countries, *exotics*.

FOREX currency symbols are always three letters, where the first two letters identify the name of the country and the third letter identifies the name of that country's currency. (The "CH" in the Swiss Franc acronym stands for Confederation Helvetica.)

A FOREX transaction is always between two currencies. This often confuses new traders coming from the stock or futures markets where every trade is denominated in dollars. The price of a pair is the ratio between their respective values. *Pairs, crosses, majors, minors,* and *exotics* are terms referencing specific combinations of currencies. I discuss these terms in Chapter 5, "The FOREX Lexicon." They are defined in the Glossary.

### Who Trades on the Foreign Exchange?

There are two main groups that trade currencies. A minority percentage of daily volume is from companies and governments that buy or sell products and

services in a foreign country and must subsequently convert profits made in foreign currencies into their own domestic currency in the course of doing business. This is primarily hedging activity. The majority now consists of investors trading for profit, or speculation. Speculators range from large banks trading 10,000,000 currency units or more and the home-based operator trading perhaps 10,000 units or less. Retail FOREX, as much as it has grown in the past 10 years, still represents a small percentage of the total daily volume but its numbers and significance are growing rapidly.

Today, importers and exporters, international portfolio managers, multinational corporations, high-frequency traders, speculators, day traders, long-term holders, and hedge funds all use the FOREX market to pay for goods and services, to transact in financial assets, or to reduce the risk of currency movements by hedging their exposure in other markets.

A producer of widgets in the United Kingdom is intrinsically *long* the British Pound (GBP). If they sign a long-term sales contract with a company in the United States, they may wish to buy some quantity of the USD and sell an equal quantity of the GBP to *hedge* their margins from a fall in the GBP.

The speculator trades to make a profit by purchasing one currency and simultaneously selling another. The hedger trades to protect his or her *margin* on an international transaction (for example) from adverse currency fluctuations. The hedger has an intrinsic interest in one side of the market or the other. The speculator does not. Speculation is not a bad word. Speculators add *liquidity* to a market, making it easier for everyone to transact business by setting efficient prices. They also absorb risks that exist in the marketplace. This latter differs from the gambler who creates risks in order to take them.

### **How Are Currency Prices Determined?**

Currency prices are affected by a large matrix of constantly changing economic and political conditions, but probably the most important are interest rates, economic conditions, international trade, inflation or deflation, and political stability. Sometimes governments actually participate in the foreign exchange market to influence the value of their currencies. Governments do this by flooding the market with their domestic currency in an attempt to lower the price or, conversely, buying in order to raise the price. This process is known as central bank intervention. Any of these factors, as well as large market orders, can cause high volatility in currency prices. Reports of sudden changes in such factors as unemployment can drive currency prices sharply higher or lower for a short period of time. In fact, news traders specialize in attempting to capitalize on such surprises. Technical factors, such as a well-known chart pattern, may also influence currency prices for brief periods. However, the size and volume of the

FOREX market make it impossible for any one entity to drive the market for any length of time. Crowd psychology and expectations also figure in the equation determining the price of a currency relative to another currency. There are an enormous number of correlations between all these factors and they are almost certainly nonlinear in nature. That means they are constantly changing and rearranging themselves, sometimes in nonpredictive ways. Now you see it, now you don't. If you focus on one or a few of them, the others might change unnoticed. Quantum theory comes to mind.

### **Why Trade Foreign Currencies?**

In today's marketplace, the dollar constantly fluctuates against the other currencies of the world. Several factors, such as the decline of global equity markets and declining world interest rates, have forced investors to pursue new opportunities. The global increase in trade and foreign investments has led to many national economies becoming interconnected with one another. This interconnection, and the resulting fluctuations in exchange rates, has created a huge international market: FOREX. For many investors, this has created exciting opportunities and new profit potentials. The FOREX market offers unmatched potential for profitable trading in any market condition or any stage of the business cycle. These factors equate to the following advantages:

- *No commissions*. No clearing fees, no exchange fees, no government fees, no brokerage fees if you trade with a market maker.
- *No middlemen.* Spot currency trading does away with the middlemen and allows clients to interact directly with the market maker responsible for the pricing on a particular currency pair, if you trade with an Electronic Communications Network (ECN).
- No fixed lot size. In the futures markets, lot or contract sizes are determined by the exchanges. A standard-sized contract for silver futures is 5,000 ounces. Even a "mini-contract" of silver, 1,000 ounces, represents a value of approximately \$17,000. In spot FOREX, you determine the lot size appropriate for your grubstake. This allows traders to effectively participate with accounts of well under \$1,000. It also provides a significant money management tool for astute traders.
- Low transaction cost. The retail transaction cost (the bid/ask spread) is typically less than 0.1 percent under normal market conditions. At larger dealers, the spread could be as low as 0.07 percent. Prices are quoted in *pips* for currencies. Today pip spreads can be zero at some periods for the most actively traded pairs, but typically range from two to five pips.

- *High liquidity.* With an average trading volume of more than \$4 trillion per day, FOREX is the most liquid market in the world. It means that a trader can enter or exit the market at will in almost any market condition. I must note that at the time of the first edition of *Getting Started in Currency Trading* in 2005, the daily volume was slightly less than \$2 trillion.
- *Almost instantaneous transactions*. This is an advantageous byproduct of high liquidity.
- Low margin, high leverage. These factors increase the potential for higher profits (and losses) and are discussed later. Traders have access to leverage of up to 400 percent although 50 percent to 100 percent is most common. 400:1 leverage means \$1 controls \$400 of currency.
- A 24-hour market. A trader can take advantage of all profitable market conditions at any time. There is no waiting for the opening bell. Markets are closed from Friday afternoon to Sunday afternoon. As the markets transition to the Asian Session, they usually go quiet from 5 P.M. to 7 P.M. Eastern Standard Time.
- Not related to the stock market. Trading in the FOREX market involves selling or buying one currency against another. Thus, there is no hard correlation between the foreign currency market and the stock market although both are measures of economic activity in some way and may be correlated in specific respects for a limited period of time. A bull market or a bear market for a currency is defined in terms of the outlook for its relative value against other currencies. If the outlook is positive, we have a bull market in which a trader profits by buying the currency against other currencies. Conversely, if the outlook is pessimistic, we have a bull market for other currencies and traders take profits by selling the currency against other currencies. In either case, there is always a good market trading opportunity for a trader. Although big price moves occur frequently, a crash is less likely to happen in currencies than stocks because a pair measures relative value. The U.S. Dollar (USD) can be in deep trouble, but so can the European Euro (EUR). The game is the ratio between the two. The top four traded currencies are: the U.S. Dollar (USD), the Euro Dollar (EUR), the Japanese Yen (JPY), and the British Pound (GBP). Fund managers are beginning to show interest in FOREX because of this non-correlation with other investments.
- Interbank market. The backbone of the FOREX market consists of a
  global network of dealers. They are mainly major commercial banks
  that communicate and trade with one another and with their clients
  through electronic networks and by telephone. There are no organized
  exchanges to serve as a central location to facilitate transactions the way

- the New York Stock Exchange serves the equity markets. The FOREX market operates in a manner similar to that of the NASDAQ market in the United States; thus it is also referred to as an *over-the-counter* (OTC) market. The lack of a centralized exchange permeates all aspects of currency trading.
- No one can corner the market. The FOREX market is so vast and has so many participants that no single entity, not even a central bank, can control the market price for an extended period of time. Even interventions by mighty central banks are becoming increasingly ineffectual and short-lived. Thus central banks are becoming less and less inclined to intervene to manipulate market prices. (You may remember the attempt to corner the silver futures market in the late 1970s. Such disruptive excess is not likely in the FOREX markets.)
- *No insider trading.* Because of the FOREX market's size and noncentralized nature, there is virtually no chance for ill effects caused by insider trading. Fraud possibilities, at least against the system as a whole, are significantly less than in any other financial instruments.
- Limited regulation. There is but limited governmental influence via regulation in the FOREX markets, primarily because there is no centralized location or exchange. Of course, this is a sword that can cut both ways, but the author believes—with a hearty caveat emptor—less regulation is, on balance, an advantage. Nevertheless, most countries do have some regulatory say and more seems on the way. Regardless, fraud is always fraud wherever it is found and subject to criminal penalties in all countries. Regulatory bodies such as the Commodity Futures Trading Commission (CFTC) and National Futures Association (NFA) are just now beginning to get a handle on some limited control of the retail FOREX business.
- Online trading. The capability of trading online was the impetus for retail FOREX. Today you can select from more than 100 online FOREX broker-dealers. Although none is perfect, the trader has a wide variety of options at his or her disposal.
- Third-party products and services. The immense popularity of retail FOREX has fostered a burgeoning industry of third-party products and services.

### What Tools Do I Need to Trade Currencies?

A computer with reliable high-speed connection to the Internet, a small grubstake, and the information in this book are all that are needed to begin trading currencies. You do not even need the grubstake to practice on; a free demo account is offered by all retail FOREX brokers. In fact, I encourage you to open at least one demo account early in this book.

### What Does It Cost to Trade Currencies?

An online currency trading account (a micro-account) may be opened for as little as \$1! Mini-accounts start at \$400. Do not laugh—micro- and mini-accounts are a good way to get your feet wet without taking a bath. Unlike futures, where the size of a contract is set by the exchanges, in FOREX you select how much of any particular currency you wish to buy or sell. Thus, a \$3,000 grubstake is not unreasonable as long as the trader engages in appropriately sized trades. FOREX mini-accounts also do not suffer the illiquidity of many futures mini-contracts, as everyone essentially feeds from the same interbank currency "pool."

Market maker brokers take their expenses and profit by marking up the bid-ask spread. ECN brokers charge a flat lot fee to trade. As an example, if you buy and then later sell 100,000 EURUSD and the spread is two pips, you pay a total of four pips or approximately \$40. ECN lot fees vary from \$15 to \$40 for a 100,000 lot. If you trade a larger lot size and/or frequently you will be able to negotiate these costs.

### **FOREX versus Stocks**

Historically, the securities markets have been considered, at least by the majority of the public, as an investment vehicle. In the past 10 years, securities have taken on a more speculative nature. This was perhaps due to the downfall of the overall stock market as many security issues experienced extreme volatility because of the "irrational exuberance" displayed in the marketplace. The implied return associated with an investment was no longer true. Many traders engaged in the *day trader* rush of the late 1990s only to discover that from a leverage standpoint it took quite a bit of capital to day trade, and the return—while potentially higher than long-term investing—was not exponential, to say the least.

After the onset of the day trader rush, many traders moved into the futures stock index markets where they found they could better leverage their capital and not have their capital tied up when it could be earning interest or making money somewhere else. Like the futures markets, spot currency trading is an excellent vehicle for the pattern day trader that desires to leverage his or her current capital to trade. Spot currency trading provides more options and greater volatility while at the same time stronger trends than are currently available in stock futures indexes. Former securities day traders have an excellent home in the FOREX market.

There are approximately 4,000 stocks listed on the New York Stock Exchange. Another 2,800 are listed on the NASDAQ. Which one will you trade? Trading just the seven major USD currency pairs instead of 6,800 stocks simplifies matters significantly for the FOREX trader. Fewer decisions, fewer headaches. The trader can specialize in one, two, or three currency pairs and have a full plate offering all the opportunity he or she can seize.

### **FOREX versus Futures**

The futures contract is precisely that—a legally binding agreement to deliver or accept delivery of a specified grade and quantity of a given commodity in a distant month. FOREX, however, is a spot (cash) market in which trades rarely exceed two days. Many FOREX brokers allow their investors to *rollover* open trades after two days. There are FOREX futures or forward contracts, but almost all activity is in the spot market facilitated by rollovers.

In addition to the advantages listed, FOREX trades are almost always executed at the time and price asked by the speculator. There are numerous horror stories about futures traders being locked into an open position even after placing the liquidation order. The high liquidity of the foreign exchange market (roughly three times the trading volume of all the futures markets combined) ensures the prompt execution of all orders (entry, exit, limit, etc.) at the desired price and time.

The caveat here is something called a requote or dealer intervention, which I discuss in a later chapter.

The Commodity Futures Trading Commission (CFTC) authorizes futures exchanges to place daily limits on contracts that significantly hamper the ability to enter and exit the market at a selected price and time. No such limits exist in the FOREX market.

Stock and futures traders are used to thinking in terms of the U.S. Dollar versus something else, such as the price of a stock or the price of wheat. This is like comparing apples to oranges. In currency trading, however, it is always a comparison of one currency to another currency—someone's apples to someone else's apples. This paradigm shift can take a little getting used to, but I will give you plenty of examples to help smooth the transition.

The author was a commodity futures trader and registered trading advisor for many years but has found currency trading much more to his liking for many of the reasons listed above.

I must reiterate: There is always some risk in speculation regardless of which financial instruments are traded and where they are traded, regulated or unregulated. Leverage is a door that swings both ways.